1969

State of Utah v. Harold Reemer : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an appeal from a conviction of passing and uttering a fictitious check.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Defendant was found guilty and convicted of passing an uttering a fictitious check by unanimous verdict of seven jurors; Defendant was sentenced to indeterminate term at the Utah State Prison.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant-Appellant was tried on March 27, 1969 in Weber County for the charge of passing and uttering a fictitious check.

During the course of the trial, the prosecution introduced evidence that the Defendant, at various times not relevant to the facts in this case, had used an alias; the name Richard Feeney. (R. 39043)

During the noon recess of the trial, one of the jurors became ill; it was stipulated that said juror could be excused; and that the remaining seven jurors could render a verdict in the case. (R. 61)

The seven jurors returned a unanimous verdict of guilty.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

On appeal Defendant-Appellant checks reversal of the jurisdiction and remand for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

INTRODUCTION INTO EVIDENCE THAT DEFENDANT HAD USED AN ALIAS WAS PREJUDICIAL ERROR WHEN THE DEFENDANT'S USE

OF THE SAID ALIAS WAS NOT RELEVANT OR MATERIAL TO THE ISSUES TO BE TRIED BY THE JURY.

In the present case, the Defendant was charged with uttering and passing a fictitious check. At no time was there any question that the Defendant had not used his own name, Harold Heemer, throughout the transactions on which the charge was based. The prosecution in its case in chief, called, as a witness, an officer from the State Drivers License Division to testify that the Defendant, Mr. Heemer, had used the name Richard Feeney in applying for a Utah Drivers License. The substance of said testimony was:

Q. Would you state your full name for us?

A. Ernest F. Kyriopoulos.

. . .

Q. And where are you employed?

A. I am employed at the Department of Public Safety, Drivers License Division.

. . .

Q. What generally are the duties involved?

A. I have custody of the records. . . .

Q. I see. Now, Mr. Kyriopoulos, did you receive a request from our office to investigate the driving record of a gentleman by the name of Harold Heemer and also Richard Feeney?

A. I had a request from the District Attorney.

MR. RICHARDS : (interposing) Your Honor, at this time I would object to the line of questioning upon the grounds that it's immaterial, and the question involved in this trial here today is whether or not there is an Ethel Norris and whether or not this is a false and fictitious check.

It matters not whether Mr. Heemer has a driver's license under another name than Mr. Harold Heemer.

I don't see how it makes any difference. We're willing to admit or stipulate that Mr. Heemer has also used the name of Mr. Richard Feeney, but I don't know how it plays a role in the trial today.

THE COURT: Did you say Richard?

MR. RICHARDS: Richard.

THE COURT: Richard Feeney?

MR. RICHARDS: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you stipulate that he has also used the name of Richard Feeney?

MR. RICHARDS: Yes, we do. But I think it's immaterial and I don't see why we need to be delayed —

THE COURT: (interposing) Well, what did you want to show?

MR. SHARP: We intend, Your Honor, to tie this is specifically to the action involved.

THE COURT: Well, you want the stipulation?

MR. SHARP: What I want in evidence is a copy of the driving record — not the driving record, but the application and the photograph identifying him along with the number attached to the driver's license, Your Honor. We intend to use it in a later identification.

THE COURT: Well, you mean identification of the defendant?

MR. SHARP: Identification of the defendant with another transaction which ties in with the present one.

I think it might be appropriate, Your Honor, at this time, rather than go into a lot of detail, maybe we'd better excuse the jury.

THE COURT: Well, I think I'll overrule the objection. Go ahead and proceed with it — what it amounts to. I'll see if it's material later.

At this point the witness testified that a Richard Feeney had a Utah State Drivers License and that based upon his departments record, he was able to determine that Richard Feeney was the same person as Harold Heemer.

At no time after this point did the prosecution tie in the name Richard Feeney or, for that matter, even refer to it. Nor did the prosecution produce evidence of another transaction as proffered. Although the judge indicated that he would allow the testimony of the alias in evidence conditionally upon the prosecutions tying it in later, the court never did reconsider the materiality of that evidence. Appellant asserts that the testimony concerning the alias was irrelevant, immaterial, and designed only to prejudice him in front of the jury. Inasmuch as the use of the alias could have no possible relevancy or materiality to the issues involved in the prosecutions case, the evidence could only have been offered to discredit Appellant's character. The record shows other examples of this type of irrelevant, prejudicial, character evidence. The record reveals the following testimony when the prosecution examined a police officer witness.

Q. Is it my understanding that some people write these checks sort of not caring about the results; was that what you said?

A. Yes. . . . (R. 31)

Q. And would you say that sometimes some of the things they might do might be a little dumb?

A. Right. (R. 32)

The prosecution's right to produce adverse character evidence, such as the use of an alias, is well outlined in the law and is very limited. Such evidence may only be introduced to rebut good character evidence or, in some circumstances, if it would tend to prove intent or knowledge of the crime charged. 29 *AM Jur.* 2d 389-390 *Evidence* § 340 states:

“The character of a person accused of a crime is not a fact in issue in a prosecution for such a crime, and the prosecution cannot, in its evidence in chief, for the purpose of inducing belief in the accused's guilt introduce evidence tending to show his bad character or reputation . . . unless . . . the accused first introduces evidence of good character or reputation.

Utah follows this general rule. See *State v. Hougensen*, 91 Utah 351 (citing *State v. Thompson*, 58 Utah 291, 199 Pac. 161). In the Utah *Hougensen case*, Mr. Justice Wolf, in writing for the Court at page 365 Utah Reports, stated:

“One can affect it by showing that the Defendant in a criminal case has a bad character as to a particular trait involved in the commission of the crime, but only after evidence of the Defendant's good character has been received.”

The courts usually refuse to admit such character evidence on grounds of relevancy or materiality, See *e.g.*, *State v. Gress*, 250 Minn. 337, 84 N.W. 2d 616; *State v. Garceau*, 122 Vt. 303, 170 Atl. 2d 623. However, the real rationale behind the rule is one of prejudice. See *e.g.*, *Topeca v. Harvey*, 188 Kan. 841, 365 P. 2d 1109 *State v. Garceau*, 122 Vt. 303, 170 Atl. 2d 623. While use of an alias may be logically relevant or have some probative value to finding guilt, the prejudice from such evidence certainly outweighs the probative value. Such evidence is sometimes characterized as “bad man” evidence and the courts fear that a Defendant may be punished by a jury for being a “bad man” rather than because he was proven guilty of a specific crime. See 29 *Am Jur* 2d 390, *Evidence* § 340.

The record shows in this case that after the prosecution had admitted evidence of Defendant’s use of an alias, the Defendant then took the stand and explained why he had used an alias in applying for a drivers license. However, this does not clear the error of the prior alias evidence. See 29 *AM Jur* 2d page 390, *Evidence* § 340 citing *State v. Beckner*, 194 Mo. sp 281, 91 S.W. 892 which provides :

(W)here the accused has previously not submitted evidence of his good character, an error in admitting evidence on behalf of the prosecution as to the bad character of the accused is not cured by his submission of evidence in rebuttal thereof.

CONCLUSION

When the state proffered the evidence of Defendant's alias the prosecutor represented to the court that he would tie in Defendant's alias to the same or similar transaction. The court allowed the evidence conditionally on the prosecutors' later showing of materiality. The prosecution did not ever attempt to tie the alias into the transaction or offer any other reason for its materiality. There could not possibly have been a material reason to show why the Defendant had used the name Richard Feeney in applying for a State Drivers License when the check in the present case was made out to the real name of the defendant Harold Heemer and all the persons involved in the case had known the Defendant by the name of Harold Heemer. Therefore the only possible use for such evidence was to show questionable character on the part of the accused. This is clearly prejudicial error in the law unless defendant had first offered of good character. Since defendant had not put his character in issue, the case should be reversed and remanded for a new trial.

POINT TWO

A VERDICT RENDERED BY A JURY OF SEVEN
PERSONS IN A FELONY CASE IS INVALID.

In the present case one of the jurors became ill during the course of the trial. For some reason no alternate

juror was chosen. The Defense counsel stipulated that the case should be tried with seven jurors and the sick juror was excused. The verdict rendered was the unanimous verdict of seven jurors.

The Utah Constitution requires that a jury consist of eight jurors. Art. 1 Sec. 10 provides: "A jury shall consist of eight jurors." The issue raised is whether the presence and verdict of one juror may be waived. There is no question that certain personal constitutional rights may be waived and that the right to a trial by jury is one of those rights. See Sec. 77-27-2 *Utah Code Ann.* (1953). There is also no question that certain constitutional requirements cannot be waived. For example, parties may not stipulate or agree to submit to the jurisdiction of a court when the constitution does not empower the court to act. See *Muskrat v. United States*, 219 U.S. 346.

Appellant argues that the constitutional requirement for eight jurors is that type of requirement that cannot be waived so as to allow a jury of seven in a felony case. The implications of the constitutional language that "a jury shall consist of jurors" is that seven jurors would not even be deemed a jury. Sec 78-46-5 *Utah Code Ann.* (1953) provides:

A trial jury in capital cases shall consist of twelve jurors. A trial jury in other criminal cases and in civil cases in the District Courts shall con-

sist of eight jurors; provided, that in civil cases and cases of misdemeanors the jury may consist of any number less than eight upon which the parties may agree in open court. . . .

Following familiar rules of statutory construction, the inclusion of allowing stipulation for less than eight jurors in civil cases and misdemeanor cases would impliedly exclude a jury composed of a lesser number than eight in felony cases.

Therefore, in light of the Utah Constitutional and statutory language the Appellant contends that there can be no less than eight jurors on a felony cases and to allow a verdict of seven jurors was error.

The case should be reversed and remanded for a new trial.