1969

State of Utah v. Harold Reemer : Respondent's Brief

STATEMENT OF CASE AND DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Defendant appeals from a jury conviction on March 27, 1969, for passing and uttering a fictitious check in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-26-7 (1953). He was sentenced to an indeterminate term in the Utah State Prison of one to ten years by Judge Charles G. Cowley of the Second Judicial District Court, in and for Weber County, State of Utah.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent submits that the jury verdict of guilty and sentence passed thereupon should be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant's recital of facts is substantially correct. Respondent's additions and corrections are made hereinafter.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION IN PERMITTING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE DEFENDANT'S ALIAS IN EVIDENCE.

It is an elementary proposition that the trial judge has wide discretion in passing upon the admissibility of evidence. Ernest F. Kyriopoulos of the State Driver's License Division testified for the prosecution that the defendant used an alias, Richard Feeney, on his application for a driver's license. After an objection by the defense, Judge Cowley reserved a ruling on the materiality of this evidence upon the prosecution's offer to connect it up to the jury issues (T. 41). Contrary to appellant's allegation, the State did endeavor to demonstrate the materiality of the alias. The check in issue at the trial, allegedly signed by an "Ethel Norris", bore a handwritten account number differing in only one digit from defendant's own account number (T. 51-53). The prosecution attempted to show, by reference to another of defendant's checks signed Richard Feeney bearing a handwritten account number, that defendant knew from memory his own account number (T. 100-03). The evidence of the alias was necessary to connect the two checks, and hence, an essential part of the evidential chain.

Further, it is difficult to imagine how this evidence could have inflamed the jury to the point that reversible error was committed. Appellant

strangely regards admission of the alias more prejudicial than his own evidence of his two prior convictions for writing checks on insufficient funds (T. 69-70).

“After hearing an appeal the court must give judgment without regard to errors or defects which do not affect the substantial rights of the parties. If error has been committed, it shall not be presumed to have resulted in prejudice. The Court must be satisfied that it has that effect before it is warranted in reversing the judgment.” Utah Code Ann. § 77-42-1 (1953).

POINT II

APPELLANT'S WAIVER OF AN EIGHT MAN JURY AND HIS CONSENT TO BE TRIED BY A JURY OF SEVEN ARE VALID IN LAW.

When one of the jurors trying appellant's case became ill, the defense stipulated that the trial could continue with seven jurors.

MR. RICHARDS: “Your Honor, based upon the fact that one of the jurors has become ill since the beginning of the trial, the defendant is willing to stipulate that the jury now empaneled may determine the case with a number of seven on the jury in lieu of the eight.” (T. 61)

It is well settled in all federal and state courts which have considered the matter that a defendant

may waive his right to a full jury and consent to be tried by fewer than the constitutional or statutory number. This rule is most frequently applied in the "sick juror" cases, to-wit: *Patton v. United States*, 281 U.S. 276, 312 (1930); *Beatty v. United States*, 377 F.2d 181, 185 (1967); *Williams v. United States*, 332 F2d 36, 39 (1964); *Timmons v. State*, 223 Ga. 450, 156 S.E.2d 68, 69 (1968); *State v. Robbins*, 176 Ohio 362, 199 N.E.2d 742 (1964); *Holloway v. State*, 365 P.2d 829, 831 (Okla. Crim. 1961).

Appellant contends that Utah Code Ann. § 78-46-5 (1953) makes an eight man jury in a felony case "unwaivable."

"A trial jury in capital cases shall consist of twelve jurors. A trial jury in other criminal cases and in civil cases in the District Courts shall consist of eight jurors; provided, that in civil cases and cases of misdemeanors the jury may consist of any number less than eight upon which the parties may agree in open court. . . ."

Although this statute does not specifically give appellant the right to stipulate to be tried by a jury of fewer than eight, the right to waive a trial by a full jury has existed historically and is not extinguished by the statute. California has dealt several times with this identical problem. Article 1, Section 7 of the California Constitution after which the Utah statute was patterned provides as follows:

"In civil actions and cases of misdemeanors the jury may consist of twelve, or of

any number less than twelve upon which the parties may agree in open court.”

The argument that this impliedly excludes, by failing to mention, felony cases has been rejected in a number of cases, to-wit: *People v. Ragsdale*, 177 Cal. App. 2d 676, 2 Cal. Rptr. 640 (1964); *People v. Patterson*, 169 Cal. App. 2d 179, 186-87, 337 P.2d 163, 168 (1959); *People v. Williams*, 128 Cal. App. 2d 458, 465, 275 P.2d 513, 517 (1954); *People v. Clark*, 24 Cal. App. 2d 302, 74 P.2d 1070 (1938).

The ancient rule of *expresso unius est exclusio alternius* should not be applied when it will serve to extinguish an established custom, usage or practice. 2 Sutherland Statutory Construction, § 4917 at 421 (3d. ed. F. Horack, 1943). As indicated by the cases cited above, it is a standard practice to permit defendant to waive trial by a full jury and consent to be tried by a smaller jury. No worthwhile purpose would be served by permitting appellant to affirm at trial, then deny on appeal, the competency of a seven man jury to decide his case.

CONCLUSION

Permitting an alias used by the defendant to be introduced in evidence was not an abuse of the trial court's broad discretionary powers. The prosecution connected up the evidence, but even if it had not, its admission cannot be considered reversible error. Appellant should not be granted a new trial on the

grounds that he should not have been permitted to stipulate to a smaller jury. Even if this were error, it was appellant's own error.